Escaping fronts in local quenches of a confining spin chain

Anna Krasznai^{1,2} and Gábor Takács^{1,2,3}

 Department of Theoretical Physics, Institute of Physics, Budapest University of Technology and Economics, Műegyetem rkp. 3., H-1111 Budapest, Hungary
 BME-MTA Statistical Field Theory 'Lendület' Research Group, Budapest University of Technology and Economics, Műegyetem rkp. 3., H-1111 Budapest, Hungary
 MTA-BME Quantum Dynamics and Correlations Research Group, Budapest University of Technology and Economics, Műegyetem rkp. 3., H-1111 Budapest, Hungary

Abstract

We consider local quenches from initial states generated by a single spin-flip in either the true or the false vacuum state of the confining quantum Ising spin chain in the ferromagnetic regime. Contrary to global quenches, where the light-cone behaviour is strongly suppressed, we find a significant light-cone signal propagating with a nonzero velocity besides the expected localised oscillating component. Combining an analytic representation of the initial state with a numerical description of the relevant excitations using the two-fermion approximation, we can construct the spectrum of post-quench excitations and their overlaps with the initial state, identifying the underlying mechanism. For confining quenches built upon the true vacuum, the propagating signal consists of superpositions of left and right-moving mesons escaping confinement. In contrast, for anti-confining quenches built upon the false vacuum it is composed of superpositions of left and right-moving bubbles which escape Wannier-Stark localisation.

😳 🕛 Copyright A. Krasznai and G. Takács.	Received	26-01-2024	
This work is licensed under the Creative Commons	Accepted	13-05-2024	Chask for
Attribution 4.0 International License.	Published	29-05-2024	updates
Published by the SciPost Foundation.	doi:10.214	68/SciPostPhys.1	6.5.138

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Local quenches in the confining Ising spin chain	3
	2.1 Confinement in the Ising spin chain	4
	2.2 Phenomenology of local quenches	5
3	The meson/bubble spectrum	8
	3.1 Confinement: Mesons	8
	3.2 Anti-confinement: Bubbles	12
4	Escaping fronts in confining local quenches	14
	4.1 Initial state for $h_l = 0$	15

	4.2 Matching the meson wave functions4.3 Meson overlaps	16 17
5	Escaping fronts in anti-confining local quenches	19
6	Conclusions and Outlook	21
A	Exact solution of the purely transverse Ising chain	23
B	Numerical results for meson and bubble wave functions	25
С	Time evolution after other local quenches	26
Re	ferences	28

1 Introduction

Confinement is a physical phenomenon featuring prominently in the theory of strong interactions [1], explaining the absence of quarks and gluons as free particles. Besides the context of particle physics, confining forces also appear in condensed matter systems, with the most straightforward example provided by the McCoy-Wu scenario [2] in the ferromagnetic phase of the Ising field theory, which describes the scaling limit of the quantum Ising spin chain.

It was shown in [3] that the non-equilibrium dynamics of the quantum Ising spin chain is radically altered by confinement. In this context, non-equilibrium time evolution was initiated by a quantum quench, i.e., a sudden change in the Hamiltonian [4, 5]. This protocol is of paradigmatic relevance, and today, it is routinely engineered in experiments on closed quantum systems [6–13]. In a large class of such systems, including various spin chains with short-range interactions or interacting bosonic or fermionic systems, quasi-particles have an upper bound on their velocity [14], leading typically to a distinctive light-cone pattern in time-dependent correlation functions [4, 5, 15–20]. However, as shown in [3], the confining forces can suppress the light-cone spreading of correlations. Dynamical confinement and its effects have recently been confirmed in numerous systems [21–34].

Using the paradigmatic Ising chain in its confining regime, it was found that transport is also strongly suppressed in inhomogeneous situations, such as a quench starting from a domain wall state [22]. This effect is due to a combination of dynamical confinement and Wannier-Stark localisation, as demonstrated for the Ising spin chain in [26]. In contrast to the usual confinement, which is also present in the scaling field theory limit, Wannier-Stark localisation results from Bloch oscillations specific to condensed matter systems defined on a lattice [35]. Bloch oscillations were also shown to suppress the decay of the false vacuum under the standard scenario of bubble nucleation [36, 37] by preventing the expansion of the nucleated bubbles of the true vacuum [38]. We note that bubble nucleation in the Ising spin chain was recently observed in numerical simulations of quantum quenches [39], confirming earlier theoretical predictions [40], with the method recently extended to quantum field theories [41,42]. Approaching the decay of the false vacuum via quantum quenches in condensed matter systems opened the way to the quantum simulation of the false vacuum decay [42-46], which is also essential for high energy physics and cosmology [47–49]. Furthermore, a recent work [50] even raised the fascinating possibility of diagnosing a long-lived false vacuum using quantum quenches without precipitating the eventual vacuum decay.

Here, we study the dynamics of the ferromagnetic Ising spin chain with local quenches starting from initial states obtained by flipping a single spin. An advantage of these protocols is that dynamical confinement can be entirely separated from Wannier-Stark localisation, the former appearing in confining quenches where the initial magnetisation is aligned with the post-quench longitudinal field, while the latter arising when they are opposite. These correspond to the initial states obtained by a local change in the post-quench Hamiltonian's true/false vacuum state. In contrast to quenches starting from a domain wall, we observe very prominent escaping fronts tracing out a well-defined light cone in the time evolution of the magnetisation. We explain the origin of these escaping fronts using a combination of exact analytic and numerical approaches. This leads to the conclusion that the relevant states are equal-weight superpositions of left and right-moving excitations.

The outline of the present work is as follows. In Section 2, we briefly recall confinement in the Ising spin chain and describe the phenomenology of local quenches obtained by numerical simulation, while Section 3 discusses the meson and bubble spectrum in the two-fermion approximation. In Section 4, we consider confining quenches, corresponding to the case when the post-quench magnetic field is aligned with the pre-quench magnetisation, by developing a semi-analytic approach to compute the quench overlaps, i.e., the overlaps of meson excitations with the initial state. Section 5 focuses on anti-confining quenches, i.e., those when the post-quench magnetic field is opposite to the pre-quench magnetisation. Our conclusions are presented in Section 6. To keep the flow of the argument uninterrupted, we relegated some of the details to appendices, with Appendix A recalling the necessary ingredients of the exact solution of the purely transverse chain, Appendix B illustrates the wave function matching discussed in the main text, while Appendix C presents some examples of other local quenches intended for comparison.

2 Local quenches in the confining Ising spin chain

We consider the Ising spin chain with both transverse and longitudinal fields given by the Hamiltonian

$$H = -J \sum_{j=1}^{L} \left(\hat{\sigma}_{j}^{x} \hat{\sigma}_{j+1}^{x} + h_{t} \hat{\sigma}_{j}^{z} + h_{l} \hat{\sigma}_{j}^{x} \right),$$
(1)

where *L* is the length of the chain, while h_t and h_l are the transverse/longitudinal magnetic fields, respectively. In writing (1) we implicitly used periodic boundary conditions $\sigma_{L+1}^a \equiv \sigma_1^a$. However, for the phenomena considered here, the boundary condition is irrelevant, and we choose it to be convenient for the given calculation, as specified later. The lattice spacing is taken to be a = 1, while *J* specifies the units of energy and time.

For a vanishing longitudinal field, the model is exactly solvable. To keep our exposition selfcontained, a brief overview of the exact solution of the chain for periodic boundary conditions is given in Appendix A. In the ferromagnetic phase $h_t < 1$, the spectrum consists of kink excitations with a dispersion relation

$$\varepsilon_q = 2J\sqrt{1 + {h_t}^2 - 2h_t \cos q}, \qquad (2)$$

with the momentum q running over the Brillouin zone $-\pi < q \le \pi$. From here on, we also set J = 1 to specify our units of energy and time. The order parameter has a non-vanishing expectation value $\langle \hat{\sigma}_i^x \rangle = m$ with

$$m = \pm \left(1 - h_t^2\right)^{1/8},\tag{3}$$

in the two ground states $|\pm\rangle_{h_t,h_l=0}$ which are degenerate in the thermodynamic limit.

2.1 Confinement in the Ising spin chain

Switching on a longitudinal magnetic field h_l parallel to the magnetisation m realises the McCoy-Wu scenario [2], leading to a linear potential with positive string tension

$$\chi = 2Jh_l m, \tag{4}$$

between kinks, which confines them into meson excitations. In the scaling limit, the disappearance of kinks from the spectrum can also be explained in field-theoretic terms based upon the mutual non-locality of the order parameter and the interpolating field of the kinks [51].

Choosing for definiteness m > 0, the true ground state of the system is a perturbation of the one with positive magnetisation $|+\rangle_{h_t,h_l=0}$, while $|-\rangle_{h_t,h_l=0}$ becomes a metastable state, a.k.a. the false vacuum. In the following, we stay within the scenario of strong confinement, which corresponds to a transverse field h_t far below its critical value 1 and consider values of the longitudinal field h_l of order 0.1.

When the system is not too close to the critical point, the meson excitations are almost purely composed of two-kink states of the $h_l = 0$ system and (for infinite volume) can be described in the so-called two-kink approximation with the effective Hamiltonian [52]

$$\hat{H}_{2-\text{fermion}} = \varepsilon(\hat{k}_1) + \varepsilon(\hat{k}_2) + \chi |\hat{x}_1 - \hat{x}_2| , \qquad (5)$$

where $\hat{k}_{1,2}$ and $\hat{x}_{1,2}$ are the canonical momentum and coordinate operators for the kinks. The two-kink state dominance of the meson states was explicitly demonstrated in the field-theoretic limit [53], and it is related to the suppression of kink number changing processes [54].

The spectrum of this Hamiltonian can be computed either by a numerical solution of the Schrödinger equation or using a simple semi-classical approximation [52]. We avoid using values that are too large for h_l to ensure that even the most spatially localised meson excitations have support over several lattice sites, which makes it possible to neglect the short-range deviations from the linear potential. These were computed in [52] and result from the kinks not being exactly point-like: The interpolation between the two vacua takes place over a crossover region of finite length.

To realise a confining quench, one starts from a ground state polarised parallel to the longitudinal field in the post-quench Hamiltonian. As shown in [3], confining forces radically alter the time evolution after a global quantum quench, suppressing the characteristic lightcone spreading of correlations. Note that due to the translational invariance of the initial state after a global quench, only meson states with zero total momentum eigenvalue can contribute; therefore, the one-meson states are localised. Nevertheless, string breaking leads to multi-meson excitations (with zero total momentum), producing fronts escaping confinement. However, this effect is usually strongly suppressed: in the quenches within the ferromagnetic case considered in the original work [3], the "escaping fronts" observed in the two-point correlation functions were smaller by several orders of magnitude compared to the localised component. The reason behind this suppression is well-understood [27, 55, 56]: string breaking is analogous to pair creation in a homogeneous electric field known as the Schwinger effect [57], with the role of the electric field played by the string tension (4). For small values of h_t and h_l , the rate of string breaking is approximately given by [26]

$$Jh_t \exp\left(-\mathcal{C}\frac{1}{\sqrt{h_l^2 + h_t^2}}\right),\tag{6}$$

where C is a coefficient of order one. The anomalously slow thermalisation dynamics exhibited by confining global quenches can also be understood in terms of multiple stages with wellseparated time scales, with the system first relaxing towards a prethermal state [58]. We note that when the polarisation of the initial state is opposite to the longitudinal field present after the quench, the time evolution is again localised in the global case; however, in this case, the mechanism behind this effect is Wannier-Stark localisation due to Bloch oscillations [26]. This corresponds to starting the dynamics from a false vacuum state, whose decay is prevented by Bloch oscillations [38]. Contrary to confinement, which also occurs in the continuum limit [53], Wannier-Stark localisation is a lattice effect resulting from the dispersion relation's periodicity over the Brillouin zone.

2.2 Phenomenology of local quenches

The first quench protocol we consider is the confining quench starting from the initial state

$$|\Psi(0)\rangle = \sigma_{L/2}^{z} |+\rangle_{h_{t},h_{l}}, \qquad (7)$$

where $|+\rangle_{h_t,h_l}$ is the positively polarised ground state of the post-quench Hamiltonian (1) with some fixed values of $0 < h_t < 1$ and $h_l > 0$. Since this only differs from the post-quench true vacuum state by flipping the spin at the site L/2, the resulting quench is fully local without any global component, i.e. it starts with energy density localised at the sites L/2 and its two neighbours, making the evolution much cleaner.

The time evolution was numerically simulated by the time-evolving block decimation (TEBD) method [59] under the post-quench Hamiltonian

$$H = -J \sum_{j=1}^{L-1} \left(\hat{\sigma}_j^x \hat{\sigma}_{j+1}^x + \frac{1}{2} h_t \hat{\sigma}_j^z + \frac{1}{2} h_t \hat{\sigma}_{j+1}^z + \frac{1}{2} h_l \hat{\sigma}_j^x + \frac{1}{2} h_l \hat{\sigma}_{j+1}^x \right), \tag{8}$$

using first-order Trotter-Suzuki decomposition with the typical total chain length L = 80 and J = 1. The Hamiltonian (8) only differs from (1) in the boundary conditions; however, this is irrelevant in our discussions since the simulation time considered here is not long enough for quasi-particles to travel the half-length of the chain. Consequently, the results of our subsequent analysis carry over to the thermodynamic limit $L \rightarrow \infty$ as well.

As a first step, the system's ground state was found by applying the TEBD method with imaginary time evolution and was validated by comparing it to the exact diagonalisation results. We then applied the spin flip and simulated the real-time evolution of the system. For the imaginary time evolution, we chose the time step dt = 0.05, the total number of steps N = 4000 and the maximum bond dimension $\chi_{max} = 50$. For the real-time evolution, the parameters were set to dt = 0.01 and $\chi_{max} = 300$. The Schmidt values were truncated at 10^{-8} for both imaginary and real-time evolutions. We verified that all results were robust under reasonable variations of these parameters.

The resulting time evolution of the expectation value of the longitudinal magnetisation

$$M(j,t) = \langle \Psi(t) | \sigma_j^x | \Psi(t) \rangle, \qquad |\Psi(t)\rangle = e^{-iHt} | \Psi(0) \rangle, \tag{9}$$

is shown in Fig. 1. Note that the evolution has a prominent localised component similar to the global quenches considered in [3]. This is expected since a single flipped spin is essentially a source of kink pairs, whose motion is governed by the Hamiltonian (5) with confining potential.

In a semi-classical approximation, one can use the classical version of the Hamiltonian (5) to compute the trajectory of a kink pair by introducing the centre of mass and relative coordinates

$$X = \frac{x_1 + x_2}{2}, \qquad x = x_2 - x_1, \tag{10}$$

together with the associated momenta

$$K = k_1 + k_2, \qquad k = \frac{k_2 - k_1}{2}.$$
 (11)



(a) The solid lines indicate the maximum meson velocities calculated from the corresponding meson spectrum as explained in Subsection 3.1, while the dashed lines indicate the maximum free kink velocity.



(b) The red curves indicate the corresponding quasi-classical trajectories of the quasi-particles with initial momenta $k_0 = \pm \pi$.

Figure 1: The front propagation in the longitudinal magnetisation $\langle \hat{\sigma}_j^x \rangle$ for $h_t = 0.25$ and $h_l \in \{0.1, 0.2, 0.3, 0.4\}$ respectively, starting from the initial state $|\Psi(0)\rangle = \sigma_{L/2}^z |+\rangle_{h_t,h_l}$.

For states with total momentum K = 0, we obtain the equation

$$\dot{x}(t) = 2 \frac{\partial \epsilon(k)}{\partial k}, \qquad \dot{k}(t) = -\chi \operatorname{sign}(x(t)).$$
 (12)

Introducing d(t) = |x(t)|/2 as the position of the right kink relative to the midpoint, the equations of motion (12) can be solved exactly to give

$$d(t) = \left| -\frac{1}{\chi} \left(\epsilon(k_0 - \chi t) - \epsilon(k_0) \right) + d_0 \right|, \qquad (13)$$

where $k_0 > 0$ gives the initial value of the kink momenta as $k_{1,2}(t = 0) = \pm k_0$, while $d_0 > 0$ gives their initial position as $x_{1,2}(t = 0) = \pm d_0 + X$, with their center located at X. In the local quenches considered here, the typical value of d_0 is expected to be of the order of the lattice spacing. At the same time, the enveloping curve of the localised component is given by the trajectory with $k_0 = \pi$. Fig. 1b shows the predicted enveloping curve with red lines choosing $d_0 = 1$.

Note that while the localised component qualitatively matches the predicted envelope, there is a component forming a prominent light cone which lies outside the red curves. In contrast to the results for global quenches [3], the escaping fronts in local quenches are of the same order of magnitude as the localised component. Similar dynamics was observed in [31];



(a) The solid lines indicate the maximum bubble velocities calculated from the corresponding bubble spectrum as explained in Subsection 3.2, while the dashed lines indicate the maximum free kink velocity.



(b) The red curves indicate the corresponding quasi-classical trajectories of the kink pair with initial momentum $k_0 = 0$.

Figure 2: The front propagation in the longitudinal magnetisation $\langle \hat{\sigma}_j^x \rangle$ for $h_t = 0.25$ and $h_l \in \{-0.1, -0.2, -0.3, -0.4\}$ respectively, starting from the initial state $|\overline{\Psi}(0)\rangle = \sigma_{L/2}^z |+\rangle_{h_t,h_l=0}$.

however, the transverse field applied there was much larger ($h_t = 0.5$), much closer to the critical point. They also considered a different observable: The probability dynamics of kinks instead of the magnetisation which is considered here. It is striking to see such a prominent light-cone signal in the strongly confining regime where the light-cone in global quenches was observed to be very strongly suppressed [3]. Our primary interest is to identify the mechanism underlying their presence.

The second quench protocol is the anti-confining quench starting from the initial state

$$|\overline{\Psi}(0)\rangle = \sigma_{L/2}^{z} |+\rangle_{h_{t},h_{l}=0} , \qquad (14)$$

where $|+\rangle_{h_l,h_l=0}$ is the positively polarised ground state of the pure transverse Hamiltonian. In this case, we take the post-quench longitudinal field h_l to be negative, and so the initial state corresponds to a metastable (false vacuum) state for the Hamiltonian (1). The general settings of the TEBD simulations for these quenches were the same as in the confining case. Note that such quenches are not purely local, i.e. they necessarily involve a global component; however, it turns out that this component is so small that it can be neglected in our subsequent considerations.

Despite the repulsive force between the kinks characteristic for this case, Bloch oscillations lead to Wannier-Stark localisation of the dynamics [26, 38], with the resulting evolution displayed in Fig. 2. While it looks superficially similar to the case of confining quenches il-



Figure 3: The lowest lying energy levels of the Schrödinger equation (16) for transverse field $h_t = 0.25$, and longitudinal fields $h_l = 0.1$ and $h_l = 0.3$ as a function of the momentum of the centre of mass *K*, shown by blue curves. The red crosses correspond to the energy eigenvalues calculated via exact diagonalisation for a chain of length L = 22. The energy of the real ground state is subtracted from each finite chain energy eigenvalue. The isolated red cross is the false vacuum state in the finite system with energy χL relative to the true vacuum ground state.

lustrated in Fig. 1, we reveal significant differences in the underlying mechanism behind the escaping fronts.

3 The meson/bubble spectrum

In this Section, we consider the quasi-particle spectrum relevant for confining dynamics, which is composed of two-kink bound states known as mesons, as well as the excitations governing the anti-confining quenches which are nothing else than bubbles whose nucleation is the mechanism behind the decay of the false vacuum [36]. We use the two-fermion approximation of [52] to get a quantitative description whose accuracy can be cross-checked using exact diagonalisation.

3.1 Confinement: Mesons

As discussed in Subsection 2.1, the meson spectrum can be well approximated using the simple two-fermion Hamiltonian (5). Due to translational invariance, it is possible to pass to the centre-of-mass frame where the eigenvalue of the total momentum $\hat{k}_1 + \hat{k}_2$ is fixed to *K*. Then, the Hamiltonian for the relative motion takes the form

$$\hat{H} = \omega(\hat{k}; K) + \chi |\hat{x}|, \qquad (15)$$

where $\omega(\hat{k};K) = \varepsilon(K/2 + \hat{k}) + \varepsilon(K/2 - \hat{k})$. From now on, we will omit the hats from the operators. Considering an infinite chain with position *x* taking values in \mathbb{Z} , the Schrödinger equation can be written as

$$H\psi_{n,K}(x) = \sum_{x'} H(x, x'; K)\psi_{n,K}(x') = E_n(K)\psi_{n,K}(x),$$
(16)

where the fermionic statistics implies that the wave functions are odd

$$\psi_{n,K}(x) = -\psi_{n,K}(-x), \tag{17}$$



Figure 4: The meson wave functions $\psi_{n,K}(x)$ for the parameters $h_t = 0.25$, $h_l = 0.1$, and $h_l = 0.2$. The state with K = 0, n = 1 is shown in blue, while the K = 0, n = 2 case is indicated by a continuous orange curve obtained by connecting the discrete points where the wave function is defined.

and

$$H(x, x'; K) = H_0(x - x', K) + \chi |x| \delta_{x, x'},$$

$$H_0(x, K) = \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}k}{2\pi} \left\{ \varepsilon(K/2 + k) + \varepsilon(K/2 - k) \right\} e^{-ikx}.$$
(18)

Note that due to the (unit) lattice spacing, the momentum variables run over the Brillouin zone $(-\pi, \pi]$. It turns out that the kinetic term is localised around x = 0, and in practice, $H_0(x - x', K)$ can be considered as a narrow band matrix. In addition, the meson wave functions are themselves localised due to the confining potential, so an excellent approximation can be obtained by considering, at most, a few hundred sites instead of a chain of infinite length. In the calculations below, we use $-100 \le x \le 100$ and obtain the meson spectrum numerically from the finite matrix representing the Hamiltonian (16).

The *n*th level of the above Schrödinger problem corresponds to a meson one-particle state $|M_n(K)\rangle$ with momentum *K* and species number *n*, with $E_n(K)$ giving its energy relative to the ground state in the two-fermion approximation, which we order to increase with *n*. For any value of *K*, the meson spectrum is bounded from below and unbounded from above.

In Fig. 3, we show the lowest four numerically obtained meson levels $E_n(K)$ with blue lines as a function of the momentum K for the value of transversal field $h_t = 0.25$, with two values $h_l = 0.1$ and $h_l = 0.3$ for the longitudinal field. For comparison, we also display the spectrum obtained from the exact diagonalisation of the total spin chain Hamiltonian (1) with length L = 22 and the ground state value subtracted, which is shown by red crosses in Fig. 3. Note the excellent agreement confirming the validity of the two-fermion approximation.

The phase of the wave functions themselves can be chosen so that $\psi_{n,K}(x)$ is real. In Figure 4, we display some wave functions $\psi_{n,K}(x)$ to demonstrate their localisation. The spatial extension of the states decreases with h_l but increases as the level index *n* grows. Since the two-fermion approximation treats the kinks as point-like objects, it is only reliable when the extension of the meson wave function is substantially larger than the spatial size of the kinks. This is safely satisfied for the field values considered here (by at least an order of magnitude); nevertheless, as h_l grows, the approximation gradually loses its validity, as discussed in Subsection 2.1.

Indeed, by implementing the Bogolyubov fermion operators (A.12,A.14) in the exact diagonalisation numerically, it can be verified that for the values of the transverse and longitudinal fields considered here, the partial norm squared of the meson eigenvectors obtained from the



Figure 5: Left panel: The real part of the meson wave function $\psi_{n,K}(x)$ for the parameters $h_t = 0.25$, $h_l = 0.1$ and for n = 50. Note that the kinks are localised in a much smaller space than the distance between them, making the meson collisionless. Right panel: wave function for a single kink subject to Wannier-Stark localisation and undergoing Bloch oscillations.

spin chain outside the two-fermion subspace is at most of order 10^{-3} , which explains the excellent accuracy of the two-fermion approximation.¹ Additionally, direct studies of scattering reveal that meson number changing amplitudes are greatly suppressed [54], which is also related to the suppression of string breaking discussed in Subsection 2.1.

It is apparent from Fig. 3 that for large species numbers n, the dispersion relation of mesons is very flat. The underlying mechanism is illustrated in Fig. 5: The two kinks are localised so far apart that they undergo separate Bloch oscillations without ever bumping into each other. This configuration can be called a collisionless meson and can be described simply in a semi-classical picture. The momenta of the two kinks satisfy

$$k_{1,2}(t) = q_{1,2} \mp \chi t \,, \tag{19}$$

with $q_{1,2}$ denoting their values at the reference time t = 0. Note that the total momentum $K = k_1 + k_2$ of the meson state is constant as expected. Using the velocity relation

$$\dot{x}_{1,2}(t) = \left. \frac{\partial \epsilon(k)}{\partial k} \right|_{k=k_{1,2}},\tag{20}$$

the positions of the two kinks are given by

$$x_{1,2}(t) = \mp \frac{1}{\chi} \left(\epsilon(k_0 \mp \chi t) - \epsilon(k_0) \right) + x_{1,2}(0),$$
(21)

which is localised in a region of diameter

$$d_{\rm WS} = \frac{\epsilon(\pi) - \epsilon(0)}{\chi} = \frac{2h_t}{\chi}, \qquad (22)$$

where d_{WS} denotes the Wannier-Stark localisation length. The corresponding mesons are collisionless for $|x_1(0) - x_2(0)| \gg d_{WS}$, and their energy is given by the sum of the energies of the two localised kinks (which is independent of the total momentum) and the contribution

¹For a similar result in the scaling field theory see Ref. [53].

from the stretch of false vacuum between them. This can be understood by setting up a semiclassical quantisation scheme in momentum space following [52], with the main distinction that the wave function does not have a turning point. Indeed, writing the wave function as

$$\psi(x) = \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \frac{dk}{2\pi} \psi(k) e^{-ikx}, \qquad (23)$$

the Schrödinger equation (16) can be written in momentum space as

$$(\epsilon(K/2+k) + \epsilon(K/2-k) - E)\psi(k) - i\chi \partial_k \psi(k) = 0, \qquad (24)$$

which can be solved explicitly with the properly normalised result given by

$$\psi(k) = \exp\left\{\frac{i}{\chi} \left[Ek - \int_{0}^{k} dk' \left(\epsilon(K/2 + k') + \epsilon(K/2 - k')\right)\right]\right\},$$
(25)

up to a phase factor. For the collisionless case, imposing periodicity of the wave function in the Brillouin zone as $\psi(k = \pi) = \psi(k = -\pi)$ leads to a Bohr-Sommerfeld quantisation condition of the form

$$2\pi E_n(K) - \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} dk \left[\epsilon(K/2 + k) + \epsilon(K/2 - k) \right] = 2\pi n\chi .$$
 (26)

Due to the periodicity of $\epsilon(k)$ the integral term does not depend on *K*, leading to energy levels independent of *K*:

$$E_n(K) = n\chi + \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} dk \,\epsilon(k), \qquad (27)$$

which numerically matches the large-*n* meson levels obtained from the Schrödinger equation (16) with a very high precision. The corresponding wave functions are given by antisymmetrising the solution (25):

$$\psi_{n,K}(k) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{ikn} \exp\left\{\frac{i}{\chi} \left[\frac{k}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} dk' \epsilon(k') - \int_{0}^{k} dk' \left(\epsilon(K/2 + k') + \epsilon(K/2 - k')\right)\right]\right\} - \{k \to -k\}.$$
(28)

This can be checked to match numerically the wave function obtained by the explicit solution of (16) for large *n*. For the case $h_t = 0.25$ and $h_l = 0.1$, the agreement is already excellent for n = 6 and rapidly improves for larger *n*.

From the dispersion relation, the group velocity of mesons can be computed as

$$\nu_n(K) = \frac{\partial E_n(K)}{\partial K}.$$
(29)

It is clear from Fig. 3 that these functions have a maximum value inside the Brillouin zone. The existence of this maximum is guaranteed by the Lieb-Robinson theorem [14], and its value depends on the species n. For collisionless mesons (large n), the independence of their energy from their momentum K implies that these mesons are stationary irrespective of the value of K, which is nicely explained by the semi-classical description. In addition, the velocities monotonously decrease with n; hence, the light-cone bounding the escaping fronts in Fig. 1a corresponds to the maximum velocity of the lightest meson species M_1 .



Figure 6: The (collisional) bubble wave functions $\psi_{n,K}(x)$ for the parameters $h_t = 0.25$, $h_l = 0.1$, and $h_l = 0.2$. The state with K = 0, n = 1 is shown in blue, while a continuous orange curve indicates the K = 0, n = 2 case.

3.2 Anti-confinement: Bubbles

One can also investigate the spectrum built over the false vacuum in the two-fermion approximation. The two-kink states correspond to bubbles of the true vacuum nucleating under the well-known scenario of vacuum decay [36]. The relevant Hamiltonian differs from (15) in the sign of the string tension, resulting in the Schrödinger problem

$$\sum_{x'} \left[H_0(x - x', K) - |\chi| |x| \right] \overline{\psi}_{n,K}(x') = \overline{E}_n(K) \overline{\psi}_{n,K}(x),$$

$$\overline{\psi}_{n,K}(x) = -\overline{\psi}_{n,K}(-x),$$
(30)

where we explicitly indicated the anti-confining nature of the force due to $\chi < 0$. The *n*th level of the above Schrödinger problem corresponds to a one-bubble state $|B_n(K)\rangle$ with momentum K and species number n, with $\overline{E}_n(K)$ giving the energy of these states relative to the false vacuum state in the two-fermion approximation, which we order to decrease with n. For any value of K, the bubble spectrum is bounded from above and unbounded from below, just opposite to the behaviour of the mesons. These bubbles are created according to the standard scenario introduced in [36], and their nucleated bubbles and, therefore, the eventual decay of the false vacuum is suppressed by Bloch oscillations [38].

Examples of localised bubble wave functions $\psi_{n,K}(x)$ obtained from (30) are shown in Figure 6. Similarly to mesons, their spatial extension decreases with growing h_l but increases with the species index n. Comparison of Figs. 4 and 6 shows that the bubble wave functions exhibit much stronger oscillations than the meson ones. This corresponds to the fact that the meson momentum space wave functions included are centred around momentum k = 0 while the bubble wave functions presented there are localised around higher momentum values, as shown in Figs. 13 and 14. Similarly to mesons, bubbles with large n are collisionless, i.e., composed of two kinks localised far away from each other, similarly to the situation shown for mesons in Fig. 5.

In a finite system of length *L*, the false vacuum has energy $|\chi|L$ relative to the true vacuum,² which must be considered when comparing the spectrum resulting from (30) to exact diagonalisation results. This comparison is shown in Fig. 7, where we chose the chain length L = 14 to display the single-meson spectrum together with the single-bubble spectrum while

²Neglecting finite size corrections decaying exponentially with L.



Figure 7: Low-energy spectrum of the TFIM with longitudinal field, relative to the energy of the true vacuum state with $h_t = 0.25$ and $h_l = 0.1$. The crosses show the first 295 energy eigenvalues calculated via exact diagonalisation for a chain of length L = 14, organised according to the total momentum K of the corresponding state. The isolated cross is the false vacuum state, the blue curves display the meson energy levels $E_n(K)$ computed from the Schrödinger equation (16), while the red curves correspond to the bubble energy eigenvalues $\overline{E}_n(K)$ calculated from (30) shifted by the false vacuum energy $|\chi|L$. The middle of the spectrum shows that the two energy spectra agree in the collisionless limit as implied by Eq. (33).

keeping it separated from the higher excited states. Note that, on a periodic chain, large n mesons are indistinguishable from large n bubbles since the distinction between meson and bubbles is not absolute: Both are configurations divided by two kinks into two segments of true vs. false vacuum as shown in Fig. 8. This can be easily explained by considering large collisionless bubbles in semi-classical approximation, in which their quantisation can be obtained by flipping the sign of the string tension in (26):

$$2\pi \overline{E}_n(K) - \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} dk \left[\epsilon(K/2+k) + \epsilon(K/2-k) \right] = -2\pi n |\chi|, \qquad (31)$$

resulting in the solution

$$\overline{E}_{n}(K) = -n|\chi| + \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} dk \,\epsilon(k), \qquad (32)$$

a result which was also obtained in [40]. Adding the energy shift of the false vacuum, we see that it matches the spectrum of collisionless mesons by transforming the species index n to L-n

$$|\chi|L + \overline{E}_n(K) = E_{L-n}(K), \qquad (33)$$

which is exactly the correspondence between large bubbles and large mesons valid for finite length L, which was described above. Note that the energy relative to the false vacuum (32)



Figure 8: Illustrating the matching Eq. (33) between mesons and bubbles in a finite volume with periodic boundary conditions. The left panel shows an excitation that can be considered a meson, while the one on the right is more of a bubble. The green arrow shows the direction of the longitudinal field, the blue/red arrows depict spins polarised according to the true/false vacuum domains, and the green wiggly lines indicate the position of the kinks.

is positive for small bubbles and only becomes negative for bubbles larger than the critical size

$$n_* = \frac{1}{|\chi|} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \frac{dk}{\pi} \epsilon(k), \qquad (34)$$

which grows monotonically with h_t , and is bounded from below by $2/|h_l|$. For the transverse and longitudinal fields considered here, the critical bubble size is always more than one order of magnitude larger than the lattice spacing, which plays an important role in suppressing vacuum decay as found in [38], a point to which we return later in the context of anti-confining quenches at the end of Section 5.

The group velocity of the bubbles can be evaluated the same way as for mesons:

$$\bar{v}_n(K) = \frac{\partial \bar{E}_n(K)}{\partial K}.$$
(35)

Note that in contrast to the mesons, the sign of the velocity is opposite to that of the momentum. However, these velocities still have finite maxima; the largest of these maximum velocities corresponds to the first bubble B_1 , which is the one corresponding to the light-cone boundary of anti-confining quenches in Fig. 2a.

4 Escaping fronts in confining local quenches

In this Section, we consider the problem of escaping fronts in confining quenches and turn to anti-confining quenches in the next one.

Naively, the escaping fronts observed in the local quenches looked like as if a meson pair had traced them out. However, a simple energy estimate shows that this cannot be correct. The quench is generated by flipping a local spin, which does not inject enough energy into the system. For a crude estimate, note that the main contribution comes from the nearest neighbour interaction in (1), which can contribute at most 4*J* for a single spin-flip. The contribution by the longitudinal and transverse fields cannot be larger than $2J(h_l + h_t)$, so altogether, the injected energy is smaller than $(4 + 2h_l + 2h_t)J$. For all the quenches considered in Subsection 2.2, this is never enough to cover the energy of a meson pair. For example, taking $h_t = 0.25$ and $h_l = 0.1$, the injected energy is estimated from above by 5.2*J*. At the same time, the 2fermion approximation described in Section 3 yields $m_1 = 3.668J$ for the energy of the lightest meson with momentum zero, i.e. the meson gap. Therefore, the contribution of states with more than one meson is expected to be negligible. The above considerations suggest that the explanation of the escaping fronts must be sought in terms of single-meson states. To reveal the nature of the states that contribute, we analyse the overlaps of the initial state with the post-quench meson states.

4.1 Initial state for $h_l = 0$

In the vanishing longitudinal field ($h_l = 0$) limit, the state (7) can be computed explicitly in terms of the fermions. According to (A.19), the system's ground state with positive magnetisation can be written as³

$$|+\rangle_{h_t,h_l=0} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (|0\rangle_{\rm NS} + |0\rangle_{\rm R}) .$$
 (36)

In this approximation, the initial state (7) is

$$|\Psi(0)\rangle = \hat{\sigma}_{L/2}^{z} |+\rangle_{h_{t},h_{l}=0} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(|\Psi(0)\rangle_{\rm NS} + |\Psi(0)\rangle_{\rm R}\right), \tag{37}$$

where we separated the NS and R components. Using the Jordan-Wigner fermions (A.4), the operator $\hat{\sigma}_{L/2}^{z}$ can be expressed as

$$\hat{\sigma}_{L/2}^{z} = 1 - 2c_{L/2}^{\dagger}c_{L/2} = -\left(1 - 2c_{L/2}c_{L/2}^{\dagger}\right).$$

In the NS sector, substituting the Bogolyubov fermions using (A.12) gives

$$c_{L/2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \sum_{k \in \text{NS}} e^{-ikL/2} \left(u_k \eta_k + i \nu_k \eta_{-k}^{\dagger} \right),$$

$$c_{L/2}^{\dagger} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \sum_{k \in \text{NS}} e^{ikL/2} \left(u_k \eta_k^{\dagger} - i \nu_k \eta_{-k} \right),$$
(38)

from which one can obtain explicitly that

$$|\Psi(0)\rangle_{\rm NS} = -\left\{1 - \frac{2}{L}\sum_{k \in \rm NS} u_k^2 - \frac{2i}{L}\sum_{k_1, k_2 \in \rm NS} e^{-i(k_1 - k_2)L/2} v_{k_1} u_{k_2} \eta_{-k_1}^{\dagger} \eta_{k_2}^{\dagger}\right\} |0\rangle_{\rm NS}.$$
 (39)

Similarly, in the Ramond sector, Eqs. (A.12,A.14) give

$$c_{L/2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \left\{ \eta_0^{\dagger} + \sum_{\substack{p \in \mathbb{R} \\ p \neq 0}} e^{-ipL/2} \left(u_p \eta_p + i v_p \eta_{-p}^{\dagger} \right) \right\},$$

$$c_{L/2}^{\dagger} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \left\{ \eta_0 + \sum_{\substack{p \in \mathbb{R} \\ p \neq 0}} e^{ipL/2} \left(u_p \eta_p^{\dagger} - i v_p \eta_{-p} \right) \right\}.$$
(40)

Therefore, following the same argument as for the NS component, the R component can be written as

$$|\Psi(0)\rangle_{\mathrm{R}} = -\left\{1 - \frac{2}{L}\sum_{\substack{p \in \mathrm{R} \\ p \neq 0}} u_{p}^{2} - \frac{2i}{L}\sum_{\substack{p_{1}, p_{2} \in \mathrm{R} \\ p_{1}, p_{2} \neq 0}} e^{-i(p_{1}-p_{2})L/2} v_{p_{1}} u_{p_{2}} \eta_{-p_{1}}^{\dagger} \eta_{p_{2}}^{\dagger} - \frac{2}{L}\sum_{\substack{p \in \mathrm{R} \\ p \neq 0}} e^{ipL/2} u_{p} \eta_{0}^{\dagger} \eta_{p}^{\dagger}\right\} |0\rangle_{\mathrm{R}}.$$
(41)

³Strictly speaking, the polarised states (A.19) are not eigenstates of the Hamiltonian for a finite chain length *L*. However, we neglect the corresponding exponentially small corrections in *L* due to tunnelling effects throughout this work.

The required expansion of the state (37) is given by the sum of (39) and (41), while their difference gives the expansion of the state

$$\hat{\sigma}_{L/2}^{z} |-\rangle_{h_{t},h_{l}=0} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(|\Psi(0)\rangle_{\rm NS} - |\Psi(0)\rangle_{\rm R} \right), \tag{42}$$

which is obtained by a spin-flip from the negatively polarised state

$$|-\rangle_{h_t,h_l=0} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (|0\rangle_{\rm NS} - |0\rangle_{\rm R}) .$$
 (43)

4.2 Matching the meson wave functions

To compute the meson overlaps, it is necessary to construct the meson wave functions in momentum space. On the one hand, on a finite chain of length L and under the assumptions of the two-fermion approximation, the meson states can be expressed in terms of the Bogolyubov fermions as

$$|M_{n}(K)\rangle = \sum_{k \in \mathrm{NS}+K/2}^{\prime} \widetilde{\psi}_{n,K}(k)_{L} \eta_{K/2-k}^{\dagger} \eta_{K/2+k}^{\dagger} |0\rangle_{\mathrm{NS}} + \sum_{k \in \mathrm{R}+K/2}^{\prime} \widetilde{\psi}_{n,K}(k)_{L} \eta_{K/2-k}^{\dagger} \eta_{K/2+k}^{\dagger} |0\rangle_{\mathrm{R}}, \quad (44)$$

where *K* is an integer multiple of $2\pi/L$ and the prime means that we avoid double counting (i.e. every pair of momenta $K/2 \pm k$ occurs only once). The notation $k \in NS/R + K/2$ means that the momentum runs over the NS/R values shifted by K/2 (modulo 2π), which ensures that $K/2 \pm k$ is in the NS/R sector, as required. These wave function amplitudes can be computed from exact diagonalisation as

$$\hat{\psi}_{n,K}(k)_L = {}_{\text{NS/R}} \langle 0 | \eta_{K/2+k} \eta_{K/2-k} | M_n(K) \rangle, \qquad (45)$$

where the vacuum state in the matrix element is chosen according to whether the fermion momenta $K/2 \pm k$ are in the NS/R sectors.

On the other hand, it is possible to compute the momentum space wave functions from the eigenstate of the Schrödinger equation (16) as

$$\psi_{n,K}(k)_L = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \sum_x \psi_{n,K}(x) e^{ikx} \,.$$
(46)

For the choice of purely real wave functions in space, these amplitudes are imaginary due to the oddity of the spatial wave functions. While these are expected to match the amplitudes (45) up to a possible phase difference, the actual relation turns out to be more subtle:

$$\widetilde{\psi}_{n,K}(k)_{L} = \psi_{n,K}(k)_{L} e^{i\beta_{n}(K)_{L}} \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } (K/2+k)(K/2-k) > 0, \\ -1, & \text{if } (K/2+k)(K/2-k) < 0, \\ i, & \text{if } (K/2+k)(K/2-k) = 0 \text{ and } K < 0, \\ -i, & \text{if } (K/2+k)(K/2-k) = 0 \text{ and } K > 0. \end{cases}$$

$$(47)$$

In this formula, $\beta_n(K)_L$ is the expected, non-physical overall phase that needs to be fixed for every state separately and depends on accidental phase choices for the eigenvectors obtained using numerical diagonalisation.⁴ However, there is a non-trivial momentum-dependent relative phase factor in (45), which can be attributed to a relative phase between the Bogolyubov

⁴While the knowledge of these phases is not essential in our considerations, they must be taken into account if one wishes to reproduce the time evolutions displayed in Figs. 1a and 2a in terms of the overlaps.

fermions η_q definition on the chain and those in the quantum mechanical description. Denoting the latter by a_q , the matching rules (47) correspond to the relation

$$\eta_{k} = \sigma_{k} a_{k}, \quad \sigma_{k} = \begin{cases} +1, & \text{if } k > 0, \\ -1, & \text{if } k < 0, \\ -i, & \text{if } k = 0. \end{cases}$$
(48)

At present, we do not have a formal derivation of this rule. However, robust evidence is provided by examining the wave function matching numerically, as shown in Appendix B. Here, we only note that these rules work equally well for meson and bubble wave functions and all possible momenta and species numbers.

4.3 Meson overlaps

When the post-quench dynamics is confining, the expansion of the initial state in post-quench eigenstates must be performed in terms of multi-meson states. While this seems rather complex, it is greatly simplified by the validity of the two-fermion approximation, which allows for several simplifications:

- The state (37), constructed neglecting the longitudinal field, can be considered an excellent approximation of the actual initial state. In particular, the exact initial state also lies predominantly in the two-fermion subspace. As a result, the expansion is dominated by single-meson states.
- The single-meson state is very well approximated by the amplitudes $\tilde{\psi}_{n,K}$, constructed from the Schrödinger wave functions $\psi_{n,K}$ using the correspondence (47).

These features allow a semi-analytic calculation where the initial state is approximated by the analytic expression derived in Subsection 4.1, while the meson states are computed in the two-fermion approximation by solving the Schrödinger equation (16). The latter, while non-analytic, can be performed to any desired accuracy; therefore, the final overlaps can be considered free of numerical errors. Additionally, the method allows for the overlaps to be computed directly for a chain of any length, making the results applicable in the thermodynamic limit of an infinite system. In practice, we computed the overlaps for a chain of length L = 100, which effectively discretises the momentum integral corresponding to the infinite volume limit.

We also note here that the approximation of the initial state by neglecting the longitudinal field can be further validated by investigating the time evolution after the confining quench with the initial state exactly corresponding to the $h_l = 0$ scenario

$$|\Psi(0)\rangle = \sigma_{L/2}^{z} |+\rangle_{h_{t},h_{t}=0} , \qquad (49)$$

which has a small global component. An example of such a quench is presented in Fig. 15 a) of Appendix C, for the parameters $h_t = 0.25$ and $h_l = 0.2$. To the naked eye, there is no obvious difference between the time evolutions of the longitudinal magnetisation shown in Fig. 15 a) and of the purely local quench shown in the second panel of Fig. 1b. Indeed, the deviation turns out to be suppressed by around 3 orders of magnitude compared to the signal from the localised component of the purely local quench.



Figure 9: Comparison of the meson overlaps with the (flipped) true vacuum state $\sigma_{L/2}^{z} |+\rangle_{h_t,h_l=0}$ calculated by applying exact diagonalisation (shown by crosses), and the same calculated via the semi-analytic method given by Eq. (52) (shown by continuous curves) for the cases $h_t = 0.25$, $h_l = 0.1$ and $h_l = 0.3$.

Using the results of Subsection 4.1, our approximation for the initial state of the local quench can be written in the following form

$$\begin{split} |\Psi(0)\rangle &\approx \mathcal{A}|0\rangle_{\rm NS} + \mathcal{B}|0\rangle_{\rm R} + \frac{1}{L} \sum_{\substack{k_1, k_2 \in \mathrm{NS} \\ k_1, k_2 \in \mathrm{NS}}} \mathcal{K}(k_1, k_2)_L \, |k_1, k_2\rangle_{\rm NS} + \frac{1}{L} \sum_{\substack{k_1, k_2 \in \mathrm{R} \\ k_1, k_2 \neq 0}} \mathcal{K}(k_1, k_2)_L \, |k_1, k_2\rangle_{\rm R} \\ &+ \frac{1}{L} \sum_{\substack{k_2 \in \mathrm{R} \\ k_2 \neq 0}} \mathcal{K}(0, k_2)_L \, |0, k_2\rangle_{\rm R} \,, \end{split}$$
(50)

where $|k_1, k_2\rangle_{\text{NS/R}}$ is a short notation for the two-fermion state $\eta_{k_1}^{\dagger} \eta_{k_2}^{\dagger} |0\rangle_{\text{NS/R}}$, and $\mathcal{K}(k_1, k_2)_L$ denotes the corresponding amplitudes. This state can be expanded in terms of the meson states $|M_n(K)\rangle$ as

$$|\Psi(0)\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \sum_{n,K} \mathcal{C}_n(K) |M_n(K)\rangle, \qquad (51)$$

where⁵

$$C_{n}(K) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \sum_{\substack{k \in \text{NS/R} \\ k \neq 0, \pm K/2}} \sigma_{K/2-k} \sigma_{K/2+k} \psi_{n,K}^{*}(k)_{L} \mathcal{K}(K/2-k, K/2+k)_{L} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \sigma_{0} \sigma_{K} \psi_{n,K}^{*}(K/2)_{L} \mathcal{K}(0,K)_{L}, \quad (52)$$

are the meson overlaps which satisfy

$$|\mathcal{C}_n(K)|^2 = |\mathcal{C}_n(-K)|^2,$$
(53)

due to symmetry under spatial reflection. The resulting overlaps are compared to exact diagonalisation for chain lengths L = 16 and 22 in Fig. 9, showing excellent agreement. Note that for the larger values of the longitudinal field h_l , small deviations are visible from exact diagonalisation, which correspond to the limitations of the linear potential approximation of meson states discussed in Subsection 2.1, and the limitations of the approximation of the initial state by setting $h_l = 0$.

⁵Note that in Eqn. (52) the sum is not restricted to avoid double summation.



Figure 10: Overlaps of meson states $|M_n(K)\rangle$ with the state $\hat{\sigma}_{L/2}^z |+\rangle_{h_t,h_l=0}$ (given by (37)), calculated via the semi-analytic method given by Eq. (52), as a function of *n* at different values of momentum *K*.

These results show that the post-quench evolution of confining quenches is dominated by single-meson states, mostly by the lowest-lying meson M_1 . The state can be rewritten in the suggestive form

$$|\Psi(0)\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \left\{ \sum_{n} \mathcal{C}_{n}(0) |M_{n}(0)\rangle + \sum_{n} \mathcal{C}_{n}(\pi) |M_{n}(\pi)\rangle + \sum_{n} \sum_{0 < K < \pi} \left[\mathcal{C}_{n}(K) |M_{n}(K)\rangle + \mathcal{C}_{n}(-K) |M_{n}(-K)\rangle \right] \right\}.$$
(54)

The first two terms describe zero-momentum mesons building up the localised oscillations visible in Fig. 1. At the same time, the sum contains single mesons in a superposition of a left-moving and a right-moving state with the same velocity contributing with equal weights, corresponding to "Schrödinger kitten" states. These states are present because the system's initial state is not translationally invariant, unlike after global quenches. Due to the symmetry of the local quenches applied to the system, the expectation value of the total momentum is still required to be zero, which is ensured by the relation Eq. (53) that is indeed satisfied by the calculated overlaps. The emergence of the prominent light cone is explained by these "Schrödinger kitten" states escaping confinement since the initial state is decisively dominated by single meson states and the calculated overlaps of the "Schrödinger kitten" states are of the same order of magnitude as the overlaps of the zero-momentum meson states building up the localised oscillations as shown in Fig. 9.

We note that meson overlaps are suppressed with increasing index n due to the large-n momentum space wave function (28) oscillating rapidly with k, as shown in detail in Fig. 10.

5 Escaping fronts in anti-confining local quenches

The situation is similar for anti-confining quenches, with bubbles replacing the mesons. Following the same reasoning as in the previous subsection, the initial state can be written in the

form

$$\Psi(0)\rangle \approx \mathcal{A}|0\rangle_{\rm NS} - \mathcal{B}|0\rangle_{\rm R} + \frac{1}{L} \sum_{k_1, k_2 \in \rm NS} \mathcal{K}(k_1, k_2)_L |k_1, k_2\rangle_{\rm NS} - \frac{1}{L} \sum_{\substack{k_1, k_2 \in \rm R\\k_1, k_2 \neq 0}} \mathcal{K}(k_1, k_2)_L |k_1, k_2\rangle_{\rm R} - \frac{1}{L} \sum_{\substack{k_2 \in \rm R\\k_2 \neq 0}} \mathcal{K}(0, k_2)_L |0, k_2\rangle_{\rm R},$$
(55)

where the relative sign between the NS and R components corresponds to the state built by a spin-flip performed in the false vacuum as discussed at the end of Subsection 4.1. We note that the bubble wave functions in momentum space contain a similar relative sign between the NS and R components, again reflecting that these excitations are built upon the false vacuum, and these two signs eventually cancel when computing the overlaps

$$\overline{C}_{n}(K) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \sum_{k \in \mathrm{NS}} \sigma_{K/2-k} \sigma_{K/2+k} \overline{\psi}_{n,K}^{*}(k)_{L} \mathcal{K}(K/2-k, K/2+k)_{L} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \sum_{\substack{k \in \mathrm{R} \\ k \neq 0, \pm K/2}} \sigma_{K/2-k} \sigma_{K/2+k} \overline{\psi}_{n,K}^{*}(k)_{L} \mathcal{K}(K/2-k, K/2+k)_{L} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \sigma_{0} \sigma_{K} \overline{\psi}_{n,K}^{*}(K/2)_{L}, \mathcal{K}(0, K)_{L},$$
(56)

which gives the expansion of the initial state in the bubble states of the post-quench Hamiltonian:

$$|\overline{\Psi}(0)\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \sum_{n,K} \overline{\mathcal{C}}_n(K) |B_n(K)\rangle.$$
(57)

Once again, the bubble overlaps satisfy the symmetry property

$$|\overline{\mathcal{C}}_n(K)|^2 = |\overline{\mathcal{C}}_n(-K)|^2, \qquad (58)$$

and are in excellent agreement with the exact diagonalisation results, as shown in Fig. 11. We only display the results for $h_l = 0.1$; increasing the field value pushes the false vacuum energy higher, making it harder to identify the bubble states by exact diagonalisation due to the levels overlapping with a dense spectrum of two-meson states. Note that the qualitative form of the overlap functions is similar to that of the confining quench. Additionally, the overlaps are suppressed with growing species index n, as illustrated in Fig. 12, similarly to the behaviour of meson overlaps discussed in Subsection 4.3. This is important because the bubble spectrum is unbounded from below, which prevents a direct application of the energy arguments applied to anti-confining quenches at the beginning of Section 4. This is especially true for supercritical bubbles (i.e., larger the size n_* given in Eqn. (34)), which have negative energy compared to the false vacuum initial state; however, the behaviour of the overlaps strongly suppresses their contribution. As a result, overlaps of supercritical bubbles are many orders of magnitude smaller than 1.

These results and considerations lead to the following conclusions:

- The localised oscillations correspond to bubbles with momenta K = 0 or π .
- The escaping fronts are formed by single-bubble states in superpositions of a left-moving and a right-moving component of exactly opposite velocities with the same weight.

The latter conclusion is further supported by the fact that the maximum velocity of the smallest bubble B_1 matches the escaping fronts well, as shown in Fig. 2a.

To sum up, for the anti-confining quenches, dynamical confinement is replaced by Wannier-Stark localisation but again, it is the superpositions of left and right-moving states that escape it, with the only difference that these are bubble states instead of mesonic ones.



Figure 11: Comparison of the bubble overlaps with the (flipped) false vacuum state of the pure transverse system $\sigma_{L/2}^{z} |-\rangle_{h_t,h_l=0}$ calculated from exact diagonalisation (crosses) with the same calculated via the semi-analytic method given by Eq. (56) at the parameter values $h_t = 0.25$ and $h_l = 0.1$ (continuous curves).

6 Conclusions and Outlook

We considered local quenches induced by a single spin flip on the Ising spin chain in the ferromagnetic regime. In the presence of longitudinal fields, the chain dynamics is confining, and the quasi-particles over the ground state (the true vacuum) are bound states of kink pairs, which are analogous to the mesons of strong interactions. In global quenches, the confining force strongly suppresses the propagation of quasi-particles [3].

In contrast with global quenches, our simulations show that after local quenches are obtained by flipping a single spin in the ground state, the magnetisation has a significant propagating component besides the localised one. To determine the origin of these fronts, we computed the overlaps of meson states with the initial state using a semi-analytic approach, which works for any chain length, including the thermodynamic limit. The conclusion is that the light-cone fronts originate from states containing a single meson excitation in superpositions of left and right-moving mesons (mainly the lightest one) with equal weights, which is in contrast to global quenches where quasi-particle pairs trace out the light cones and are strongly suppressed by confinement. The interpretation of the global quench scenario is closer to our classical intuition since the two branches of the light cone are traced out by pairs of quasiparticles with opposite momentum. However, in local quenches, it is one-particle states in the superposition of left and right moving momenta with equal amplitudes that are responsible for the presence of the emergent light cone.

We also considered anti-confining quenches initiated by a single spin-flip in the false vacuum. In global quenches, the light cone spreading of correlations is again suppressed; however, this time by the mechanism of Wannier-Stark localisation [26] based on Bloch oscillations, which originate from the periodicity of the lattice dispersion relation in momentum space, and also result in the suppression of the decay of the false vacuum [38]. In the local quenches considered here, we once again observed a significant propagating component of magnetisation besides the localised one. This time, the excitations responsible for the fronts are bubbles of the true vacuum nucleating from the false vacuum, again in superpositions of left and rightmoving bubbles (dominated by the one with the smallest spatial extension) with equal weights. Interestingly, in infinite volume, the spectrum of these bubbles is bounded from above while unbounded from below. In contrast, in a finite volume, their spectrum seamlessly blends into



Figure 12: Overlaps of bubble states $|B_n(K)\rangle$ with the with the state $\sigma_{L/2}^z |-\rangle_{h_t,h_l=0}$ (given by (42)), calculated via the semi-analytic method given by Eq. (56), as a function of *n* at different values of momentum *K*.

that of the mesons since both large bubbles and large mesons correspond to collisionless kink pairs separated by distances much larger than the Wannier-Stark localisation length.

Beyond the spin-flip scenario considered here, we note that an interesting local quench can be obtained by starting from a domain wall initial state, for which all light cone propagation is suppressed similarly to global quenches [26]. We included our simulation of this situation in Appendix C; the absence of propagating fronts is explained by combining arguments from energy conservation with the behaviour of meson and bubble overlaps, specifically their suppression with the spatial size of the corresponding excitation established in Sections 4 and 5.

It is also interesting to perform a quantum simulation of these phenomena on a quantum computer or in a suitably designed ultra-cold atomic experiment. While confining local quenches have previously been considered on a quantum computer [31], we are unaware of similar results for anti-confining quenches. Another interesting direction is to consider these phenomena in the framework of the quantum 3-state Potts spin chain in its confining phase, where the spectrum contains baryonic excitations besides the mesonic ones [60–63], strengthening the analogy with the strong interactions and enlarging the scope of potential physical phenomena.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to M.A. Werner for sharing his extensive knowledge of MPS methods and helping us develop our simulations. We also thank M. Kormos and M. Lencsés for discussions, and are grateful to A. Bastianello for useful comments on the initial version of the manuscript.

Funding information This work was supported by the National Research, Development and Innovation Office (NKFIH) through the OTKA Grants SNN 139581 and K 138606. AK was also partially supported by the Doctoral Excellence Fellowship Programme (DCEP), funded by the National Research Development and Innovation Fund of the Ministry of Culture and Innovation

and the Budapest University of Technology and Economics, under a grant agreement with the National Research, Development and Innovation Office. GT was partially supported by the Quantum Information National Laboratory of Hungary (Grant No. 2022-2.1.1-NL-2022-00004).

A Exact solution of the purely transverse Ising chain

Here, we briefly recall the analytic solution of the TFIM [64] with length *L* and periodic boundary conditions described by the Hamiltonian

$$H = -J \sum_{j=1}^{L} \left(\hat{\sigma}_j^x \hat{\sigma}_{j+1}^x + h_t \hat{\sigma}_j^z \right), \tag{A.1}$$

with h_t denoting the transverse magnetic field. The spin ladder operators

$$\hat{\sigma}_{j}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\hat{\sigma}_{j}^{x} \pm \hat{\sigma}_{j}^{y} \right), \tag{A.2}$$

can be expressed in terms of fermionic operators c_j and c_j^{\dagger} satisfying

$$\left\{c_{j},c_{l}^{\dagger}\right\}=\delta_{jl},\qquad\left\{c_{j},c_{l}\right\}=\left\{c_{j}^{\dagger},c_{l}^{\dagger}\right\}=0,$$
(A.3)

via the Jordan-Wigner transformation [65]

$$c_j = W_j \hat{\sigma}_j^{\dagger}, \qquad c_j^{\dagger} = \hat{\sigma}_j^- W_j,$$
 (A.4)

using the string operators

$$W_j = \prod_{l=1}^{j-1} \hat{\sigma}_l^z, \qquad W_1 = \mathbb{1}.$$
 (A.5)

The Hamiltonian (A.1) can be rewritten as

$$H = -J \sum_{j=1}^{L-1} (c_j^{\dagger} - c_j) (c_{j+1} + c_{j+1}^{\dagger}) + Jh_t \sum_{j=1}^{L} (c_j^{\dagger} c_j - c_j c_j^{\dagger}) - J e^{i\pi \hat{N}} (c_L - c_L^{\dagger}) (c_1 + c_1^{\dagger}), \quad (A.6)$$

where \hat{N} is the fermion number operator

$$\hat{N} = \sum_{j=1}^{L} c_j^{\dagger} c_j \,.$$

For simplicity, we now restrict the length *L* of the chain to be even. Since *H* and \hat{N} commute, the Hamiltonian is block diagonal in the subspaces of even/odd fermion number. The last term of (A.6) can be absorbed into the first sum as

$$H = -J \sum_{j=1}^{L} \left(c_{j}^{\dagger} - c_{j} \right) \left(c_{j+1} + c_{j+1}^{\dagger} \right) + Jh_{t} \sum_{j=1}^{L} \left(c_{j}^{\dagger} c_{j} - c_{j} c_{j}^{\dagger} \right),$$
(A.7)

.

provided that the fermions satisfy the boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} N \text{ even:} & c_{L+1} = -c_1, \\ N \text{ odd:} & c_{L+1} = c_1. \end{cases}$$
(A.8)

These correspond to two subspaces of the Hilbert space called the Neveu-Schwarz (NS) / Ramond (R) sectors. The fermions are transformed into Fourier space as

$$b_q = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \sum_{j=1}^{L} c_j e^{iqj}, \quad c_j = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \sum_q b_q e^{-iqj},$$
 (A.9)

where the allowed values of the momenta for the NS sector are

$$q_n^{\rm NS} := k_n = \frac{2\pi(n+1/2)}{L}, \quad n = -\frac{L}{2}, \dots, \frac{L}{2} - 1,$$

while for the R sector

$$q_n^{\rm R} := p_n = \frac{2\pi n}{L}, \quad n = -\frac{L}{2}, \dots, \frac{L}{2} - 1.$$
 (A.10)

The Hamiltonian then takes the form

$$H = -J \sum_{q} \left(2 \left(\cos q - h_t \right) b_q^{\dagger} b_q + h_t + e^{-iq} b_q^{\dagger} b_{-q}^{\dagger} - e^{iq} b_q b_{-q} \right), \tag{A.11}$$

and can be diagonalised using a Bogolyubov transformation in both sectors, which has the following general form for modes with nonzero momenta

$$b_q = u_q \eta_q + i \nu_q \eta_{-q}^{\dagger}, \qquad b_{-q}^{\dagger} = u_q \eta_{-q}^{\dagger} + i \nu_q \eta_q, \quad q \neq 0,$$
 (A.12)

where

$$u_{q} = \frac{h_{t} - \cos q + \sqrt{1 + h_{t}^{2} - 2h_{t} \cos q}}{\left(\sin^{2} q + \left(h_{t} - \cos q + \sqrt{1 + h_{t}^{2} - 2h_{t} \cos q}\right)^{2}\right)^{1/2}},$$

$$v_{q} = \frac{-\sin q}{\left(\sin^{2} q + \left(h_{t} - \cos q + \sqrt{1 + h_{t}^{2} - 2h_{t} \cos q}\right)^{2}\right)^{1/2}}.$$
(A.13)

For zero momentum in the Ramond sector, the definition of the new modes depends on the phase:

$$b_0 = \eta_0, \quad b_0^{\dagger} = \eta_0^{\dagger}, \quad h_t > 1 \quad \text{PM phase,}$$

 $b_0 = \eta_0^{\dagger}, \quad b_0^{\dagger} = \eta_0, \quad h_t < 1 \quad \text{FM phase.}$ (A.14)

Using this convention, the Hamiltonian in both sectors takes the following form

$$H = \sum_{q \in \mathrm{NS/R}} \varepsilon(q) \left(\eta_q^{\dagger} \eta_q - \frac{1}{2} \right),$$

with the dispersion relation

$$\varepsilon_q = 2J\sqrt{1 + {h_t}^2 - 2h_t \cos q} \,. \tag{A.15}$$

In both sectors, it is possible to define a Fock ground state by

$$\eta_q |0\rangle_{\rm NS/R} = 0, \qquad q \in \rm NS/R.$$
 (A.16)

However, the spectrum is very different in the two phases. In the paramagnetic phase, the Hilbert space is generated by states containing an even number of excitations over the $|0\rangle_{NS}$,

while an odd number of excitations over the $|0\rangle_R$. Then the system has a single ground state identical to $|0\rangle_{NS}$, while the lowest energy state in the Ramond sector is the one-particle state

$$\eta_0^{\dagger} |0\rangle_{\mathrm{R}} , \qquad (A.17)$$

which has a finite gap 2J(h-1) over the ground state in the thermodynamic limit. The NS/R sectors contain states with an even/odd number of excitations over the corresponding vacuum states, respectively, so the vacuum vector $|0\rangle_{\rm R}$ is not part of the spectrum.

In the ferromagnetic phase, both sectors contain states with an even number of excitations over the corresponding vacuum states. The energy difference between the two ground states is

$$E_{\rm R} - E_{\rm NS} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{q \in {\rm R}} \varepsilon(q) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{q \in {\rm NS}} \varepsilon(q), \qquad (A.18)$$

which vanishes exponentially in the thermodynamic limit $L \rightarrow \infty$. The system manifests a spontaneous symmetry breaking with the combinations

$$\left|\pm\right\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\left|0\right\rangle_{\rm NS} \pm \left|0\right\rangle_{\rm R}\right),\tag{A.19}$$

corresponding to the two ground states (assuming an appropriate choice of the relative phase of the states $|0\rangle_{NS/R}$). In a finite system, these states are connected by tunnelling, which is exponentially suppressed in *L*. The expectation value of the order parameter is

$$\langle \pm |\sigma_{j}^{x}|\pm \rangle = \pm (1-h_{t}^{2})^{1/8} + \dots,$$
 (A.20)

where the ellipsis indicates a correction vanishing exponentially in the system size.

B Numerical results for meson and bubble wave functions

Here, we compare explicitly the wave functions computed in the two-fermion approximation to those obtained from exact diagonalisation in momentum space. The real-space wave functions obtained from Eqs. (16,30) are transformed to Fourier space using

$$\psi(k) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \sum_{x} e^{ikx} \psi(x), \qquad (B.1)$$

where the normalisation is set to match the one on a periodic chain of length *L* (the sum over *x* can be considered to run from $-\infty$ to ∞ since the wave functions vanish rapidly for large *x* and it is easy to obtain them in a volume much larger than their localisation). This is compared to the wave functions obtained from exact diagonalisation

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\psi}_{n,K}(k)_L &= {}_{\mathrm{NS/R}} \langle 0 | \eta_{K/2+k} \eta_{K/2-k} | M_n(K) \rangle ,\\ \widetilde{\overline{\psi}}_{n,K}(k)_L &= {}_{\mathrm{NS/R}} \langle 0 | \eta_{K/2+k} \eta_{K/2-k} | B_n(K) \rangle , \end{split}$$
(B.2)

modified by the (inverse of the) phase factors specified in (47). This results in an excellent match, as illustrated in Fig. 13 for mesons and in Fig. 14 for bubbles, even on a chain of moderate length.



Figure 13: Meson wave functions at $h_t = 0.25$, $h_l = 0.1$ compared to exact diagonalisation with L = 12.



Figure 14: Bubble wave functions at $h_t = 0.25$, $h_l = 0.1$ compared to exact diagonalisation with L = 12.

C Time evolution after other local quenches

To further support the main text's arguments and gain better insight, we compare other quenches to the purely local confining quench with the initial state $|\Psi(0)\rangle = \sigma_{L/2}^{z} |+\rangle_{h_{t},h_{l}}$.

The first example shows that neglecting the global quench inherent in approximating the integrability breaking initial states $(h_l \neq 0)$ by the integrable ones $(h_l = 0)$ as done in Section 4 produces a negligible effect and does not change the phenomenology. This approximation is supported by examining confining quenches starting from the integrable initial state

$$|\Psi(0)\rangle = \sigma_{L/2}^{z} |+\rangle_{h_{t},h_{l}=0}$$
, (C.1)

presented in Fig. 15 a) for $h_t = 0.25$ and $h_l = 0.2$. This quench differs from the one considered in Section 2 by including a global component corresponding to the change from $h_l = 0$ to $h_l = 0.2$. However, the difference between the time evolution shown in Fig. 1 for $h_l = 0.2$ and in Fig. 15 a) is not visible to the naked eye; it turns out to be suppressed by around 3 orders of magnitude compared to the signal from the local part of the quench.



Figure 15: a) Time evolution of the longitudinal magnetisation $\langle \hat{\sigma}_j^x \rangle$ starting from the initial state $|\Psi(0)\rangle = \sigma_{L/2}^z |+\rangle_{h_t,h_l=0}$ for the values $h_t = 0.25$ and $h_l = 0.2$. The red curves indicate the corresponding quasi-classical trajectories of the quasi-particles with momenta $k_0 = \pm \pi$. b) Time evolution of the longitudinal magnetisation $\langle \hat{\sigma}_j^x \rangle$ starting from the initial state $|\Psi(0)\rangle = \prod_{j=1}^{L/2} \sigma_j^z |+\rangle_{h_t,h_l}$ (domain wall state) for the values $h_t = 0.25$ and $h_l = 0.2$. The red curves on the confining side with positive magnetisation (right side of the system) indicate the corresponding quasi-classical trajectories of the quasi-particles with momenta $k_0 = \pm \pi$, while on the anti-confining side with negative magnetisation (left side of the system) the red curves indicate the trajectories corresponding to the momentum $k_0 = 0$.

Another interesting quench protocol can be realised by choosing the initial state as

$$|\Psi(0)\rangle = \prod_{j=1}^{L/2} \sigma_j^z |+\rangle_{h_t, h_l} , \qquad (C.2)$$

which is a "domain wall" state. In this scenario, the system segment characterised by positive magnetisation corresponds to a confining quench, while the other half of the system is an anticonfining quench. A simpler example of such a time evolution, in which the two halves were initialised with all spins up/down, respectively, was considered in [22, 26]. Similarly to their results, the time evolution of the longitudinal magnetisation only exhibits a local component which does not spread in time as shown in Fig. 15 b) for $h_t = 0.25$ and $h_l = 0.2$.

The trajectories shown in Fig. 15 b) were obtained from (12). For the confining side, the localised part is expected to be bounded by the quasi-classical trajectory of a kink with the maximum possible initial momentum $k_0 = \pi$. In contrast, on the anti-confining side, the boundary is expected to be traced out by a kink with initial momentum $k_0 = 0$ function, as shown in Fig. 15.

The suppression of escaping fronts in the domain wall quench is in marked contrast to the quenches initialised by local spin-flips considered in Section 2. This can be understood on the confining side of the quench by reconsidering the energy balance argument presented at the beginning of Section 4. The energy locally fed into the system by the presence of the domain wall is roughly smaller by a factor of 1/2 due to the presence of a single boundary, instead of the two which occur at a spin-flip and is therefore insufficient for the creation of even the lowest lying meson state. However, this argument is insufficient as an explanation because, on the anti-confining side, the bubble spectrum is unbounded from below, seemingly allowing for the

unlimited creation of bubbles. Nevertheless, note that bubbles with small spatial extensions (i.e., species index) have positive energy and only supercritical bubbles with sizes larger than n_* in Eqn. (34) can turn the energy balance in a favourable direction. As discussed in Section 5, the size of these bubbles is so large that they have extremely small overlaps with the initial state. Additionally, such supercritical bubbles are collisionless and therefore stationary, as discussed in Section 3.

References

- [1] K. G. Wilson, *Confinement of quarks*, Phys. Rev. D **10**, 2445 (1974), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.10.2445.
- [2] B. M. McCoy and T. T. Wu, Two-dimensional Ising field theory in a magnetic field: Breakup of the cut in the two-point function, Phys. Rev. D 18, 1259 (1978), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.18.1259.
- [3] M. Kormos, M. Collura, G. Takács and P. Calabrese, *Real-time confinement following a quantum quench to a non-integrable model*, Nat. Phys. **13**, 246 (2016), doi:10.1038/nphys3934.
- [4] P. Calabrese and J. Cardy, *Time dependence of correlation functions following a quantum quench*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **96**, 136801 (2006), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.96.136801.
- [5] P. Calabrese and J. Cardy, *Quantum quenches in extended systems*, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P06008 (2007), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2007/06/P06008.
- [6] T. Kinoshita, T. Wenger and D. S. Weiss, A quantum Newton's cradle, Nature 440, 900 (2006), doi:10.1038/nature04693.
- [7] S. Hofferberth, I. Lesanovsky, B. Fischer, T. Schumm and J. Schmiedmayer, Nonequilibrium coherence dynamics in one-dimensional Bose gases, Nature 449, 324 (2007), doi:10.1038/nature06149.
- [8] S. Trotzky, Y.-A. Chen, A. Flesch, I. P. McCulloch, U. Schollwöck, J. Eisert and I. Bloch, Probing the relaxation towards equilibrium in an isolated strongly correlated onedimensional Bose gas, Nat. Phys. 8, 325 (2012), doi:10.1038/nphys2232.
- [9] M. Cheneau et al., *Light-cone-like spreading of correlations in a quantum many-body system*, Nature **481**, 484 (2012), doi:10.1038/nature10748.
- [10] F. Meinert, M. J. Mark, E. Kirilov, K. Lauber, P. Weinmann, A. J. Daley and H.-C. Nägerl, *Quantum quench in an atomic one-dimensional Ising chain*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **111**, 053003 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.111.053003.
- [11] T. Langen, R. Geiger, M. Kuhnert, B. Rauer and J. Schmiedmayer, Local emergence of thermal correlations in an isolated quantum many-body system, Nat. Phys. 9, 640 (2013), doi:10.1038/nphys2739.
- [12] T. Langen et al., Experimental observation of a generalized Gibbs ensemble, Science 348, 207 (2015), doi:10.1126/science.1257026.
- [13] A. M. Kaufman, M. E. Tai, A. Lukin, M. Rispoli, R. Schittko, P. M. Preiss and M. Greiner, *Quantum thermalization through entanglement in an isolated many-body system*, Science 353, 794 (2016), doi:10.1126/science.aaf6725.

- [14] E. H. Lieb and D. W. Robinson, *The finite group velocity of quantum spin systems*, Commun. Math. Phys. 28, 251 (1972), doi:10.1007/BF01645779.
- [15] F. Iglói and H. Rieger, *Long-range correlations in the nonequilibrium quantum relaxation of a spin chain*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **85**, 3233 (2000), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.85.3233.
- [16] A. M. Läuchli and C. Kollath, Spreading of correlations and entanglement after a quench in the one-dimensional Bose-Hubbard model, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P05018 (2008), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2008/05/P05018.
- [17] S. R. Manmana, S. Wessel, R. M. Noack and A. Muramatsu, *Time evolution of correlations in strongly interacting fermions after a quantum quench*, Phys. Rev. B 79, 155104 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.79.155104.
- [18] P. Calabrese, F. H. L. Essler and M. Fagotti, Quantum quench in the transverse-field Ising chain, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106, 227203 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.106.227203.
- [19] L. Bonnes, F. H. L. Essler and A. M. Läuchli, "Light-cone" dynamics after quantum quenches in spin chains, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113, 187203 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.113.187203.
- [20] G. Carleo, F. Becca, L. Sanchez-Palencia, S. Sorella and M. Fabrizio, *Light-cone effect and supersonic correlations in one- and two-dimensional bosonic superfluids*, Phys. Rev. A 89, 031602 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.89.031602.
- [21] A. J. A. James, R. M. Konik and N. J. Robinson, Nonthermal states arising from confinement in one and two dimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122, 130603 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.130603.
- [22] P. P. Mazza, G. Perfetto, A. Lerose, M. Collura and A. Gambassi, Suppression of transport in nondisordered quantum spin chains due to confined excitations, Phys. Rev. B 99, 180302 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.99.180302.
- [23] N. J. Robinson, A. J. A. James and R. M. Konik, Signatures of rare states and thermalization in a theory with confinement, Phys. Rev. B 99, 195108 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.99.195108.
- [24] F. Liu, R. Lundgren, P. Titum, G. Pagano, J. Zhang, C. Monroe and A. V. Gorshkov, *Confined quasiparticle dynamics in long-range interacting quantum spin chains*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122**, 150601 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.150601.
- [25] T. Chanda, J. Zakrzewski, M. Lewenstein and L. Tagliacozzo, Confinement and lack of thermalization after quenches in the bosonic Schwinger model, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124, 180602 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.124.180602.
- [26] A. Lerose, F. M. Surace, P. P. Mazza, G. Perfetto, M. Collura and A. Gambassi, Quasilocalized dynamics from confinement of quantum excitations, Phys. Rev. B 102, 041118 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.102.041118.
- [27] G. Magnifico, M. Dalmonte, P. Facchi, S. Pascazio, F. V. Pepe and E. Ercolessi, *Real time dynamics and confinement in the* Z_n *Schwinger-Weyl lattice model for 1 + 1 QED*, Quantum 4, 281 (2020), doi:10.22331/q-2020-06-15-281.
- [28] Z.-C. Yang, F. Liu, A. V. Gorshkov and T. Iadecola, *Hilbert-space frag*mentation from strict confinement, Phys. Rev. Lett. **124**, 207602 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.124.207602.

- [29] R. J. V. Tortora, P. Calabrese and M. Collura, Relaxation of the order-parameter statistics and dynamical confinement, Europhys. Lett. 132, 50001 (2020), doi:10.1209/0295-5075/132/50001.
- [30] F. B. Ramos, M. Lencsés, J. C. Xavier and R. G. Pereira, Confinement and bound states of bound states in a transverse-field two-leg Ising ladder, Phys. Rev. B 102, 014426 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.102.014426.
- [31] J. Vovrosh and J. Knolle, *Confinement and entanglement dynamics on a digital quantum computer*, Sci. Rep. **11**, 11577 (2021), doi:10.1038/s41598-021-90849-5.
- [32] W. L. Tan et al., *Domain-wall confinement and dynamics in a quantum simulator*, Nat. Phys. **17**, 742 (2021), doi:10.1038/s41567-021-01194-3.
- [33] J. Vovrosh, H. Zhao, J. Knolle and A. Bastianello, *Confinement-induced impurity states in spin chains*, Phys. Rev. B **105**, L100301 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.105.L100301.
- [34] G. Lagnese, F. M. Surace, M. Kormos and P. Calabrese, Quenches and confinement in a Heisenberg-Ising spin ladder, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 55, 124003 (2022), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/ac5215.
- [35] G. H. Wannier, Dynamics of band electrons in electric and magnetic fields, Rev. Mod. Phys. 34, 645 (1962), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.34.645.
- [36] S. Coleman, Fate of the false vacuum: Semiclassical theory, Phys. Rev. D 15, 2929 (1977), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.15.2929.
- [37] C. G. Callan and S. Coleman, *Fate of the false vacuum*. II. First quantum corrections, Phys. Rev. D 16, 1762 (1977), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.16.1762.
- [38] O. Pomponio, M. A. Werner, G. Zaránd and G. Takacs, Bloch oscillations and the lack of the decay of the false vacuum in a one-dimensional quantum spin chain, SciPost Phys. 12, 061 (2022), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.12.2.061.
- [39] G. Lagnese, F. M. Surace, M. Kormos and P. Calabrese, *False vacuum decay in quantum spin chains*, Phys. Rev. B **104**, L201106 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.104.L201106.
- [40] S. B. Rutkevich, *Decay of the metastable phase in d = 1 and d = 2 Ising models*, Phys. Rev. B 60, 14525 (1999), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.60.14525.
- [41] D. Szász-Schagrin and G. Takács, *False vacuum decay in the* (1 + 1)-dimensional φ^4 theory, Phys. Rev. D **106**, 025008 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.106.025008.
- [42] M. Lencsés, G. Mussardo and G. Takács, Variations on vacuum decay: The scaling Ising and tricritical Ising field theories, Phys. Rev. D 106, 105003 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.106.105003.
- [43] O. Fialko, B. Opanchuk, A. I. Sidorov, P. D. Drummond and J. Brand, Fate of the false vacuum: Towards realization with ultra-cold atoms, Europhys. Lett. 110, 56001 (2015), doi:10.1209/0295-5075/110/56001.
- [44] J. Braden, M. C. Johnson, H. V. Peiris and S. Weinfurtner, *Towards the cold atom analog false vacuum*, J. High Energy Phys. 07, 014 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP07(2018)014.
- [45] S. Abel and M. Spannowsky, Quantum-field-theoretic simulation platform for observing the fate of the false vacuum, PRX Quantum 2, 010349 (2021), doi:10.1103/prxquantum.2.010349.

- [46] J. A. Maki, A. Berti, I. Carusotto and A. Biella, Monte Carlo matrix-product-state approach to the false vacuum decay in the monitored quantum Ising chain, SciPost Phys. 15, 152 (2023), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.15.4.152.
- [47] T. P. Billam, R. Gregory, F. Michel and I. G. Moss, Simulating seeded vacuum decay in a cold atom system, Phys. Rev. D 100, 065016 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.100.065016.
- [48] T. P. Billam, K. Brown and I. G. Moss, *Simulating cosmological supercooling with a coldatom system*, Phys. Rev. A **102**, 043324 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.102.043324.
- [49] D. Pîrvu, M. C. Johnson and S. Sibiryakov, *Bubble velocities and oscillon precursors in first* order phase transitions, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2312.13364.
- [50] G. Lagnese, F. M. Surace, S. Morampudi and F. Wilczek, *Detecting a long lived false vacuum with quantum quenches*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2308.08340.
- [51] G. Delfino, G. Mussardo and P. Simonetti, Non-integrable quantum field theories as perturbations of certain integrable models, Nucl. Phys. B 473, 469 (1996), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(96)00265-9.
- [52] S. B. Rutkevich, Energy spectrum of bound-spinons in the quantum Ising spin-chain ferromagnet, J. Stat. Phys. 131, 917 (2008), doi:10.1007/s10955-008-9495-1.
- [53] T. Rakovszky, M. Mestyán, M. Collura, M. Kormos and G. Takács, Hamiltonian truncation approach to quenches in the Ising field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 911, 805 (2016), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2016.08.024.
- [54] A. Milsted, J. Liu, J. Preskill and G. Vidal, *Collisions of false-vacuum bubble walls in a quantum spin chain*, PRX Quantum **3**, 020316 (2022), doi:10.1103/PRXQuantum.3.020316.
- [55] F. M. Surace, P. P. Mazza, G. Giudici, A. Lerose, A. Gambassi and M. Dalmonte, *Lattice gauge theories and string dynamics in Rydberg atom quantum simulators*, Phys. Rev. X 10, 021041 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevX.10.021041.
- [56] R. Verdel, F. Liu, S. Whitsitt, A. V. Gorshkov and M. Heyl, Real-time dynamics of string breaking in quantum spin chains, Phys. Rev. B 102, 014308 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.102.014308.
- [57] J. Schwinger, On gauge invariance and vacuum polarization, Phys. Rev. 82, 664 (1951), doi:10.1103/PhysRev.82.664.
- [58] S. Birnkammer, A. Bastianello and M. Knap, Prethermalization in one-dimensional quantum many-body systems with confinement, Nat. Commun. 13, 7663 (2022), doi:10.1038/s41467-022-35301-6.
- [59] G. Vidal, *Efficient simulation of one-dimensional quantum many-body systems*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **93**, 040502 (2004), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.93.040502.
- [60] G. Delfino and P. Grinza, Confinement in the q-state Potts field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 791, 265 (2008), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2007.09.003.
- [61] S. B. Rutkevich, *Two-kink bound states in the magnetically perturbed Potts field theory at T_c*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. **43**, 235004 (2010), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/43/23/235004.
- [62] S. B. Rutkevich, Baryon masses in the three-state Potts field theory in a weak magnetic field, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P01010 (2015), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2015/01/P01010.

- [63] M. Lencsés and G. Takács, *Confinement in the q-state Potts model: An RG-TCSA study*, J. High Energy Phys. **09**, 146 (2015), doi:10.1007/JHEP09(2015)146.
- [64] P. Pfeuty, *The one-dimensional Ising model with a transverse field*, Ann. Phys. **57**, 79 (1970), doi:10.1016/0003-4916(70)90270-8.
- [65] E. Lieb, T. Schultz and D. Mattis, *Two soluble models of an antiferromagnetic chain*, Ann. Phys. **16**, 407 (1961), doi:10.1016/0003-4916(61)90115-4.